**RECEIVED**

**Mar 01 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHMOND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jean Hoefler Toal, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2020-CP-40-01226

---

Covil Corporation, by and  
through its duly appointed  
Receiver, Peter D. Protopapas,

Respondent,

v.

Pennsylvania National Mutual  
Casualty Insurance Company,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2020-001239

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

David G. Harris, II  
Brady A. Yntema  
David L. Brown  
GOLDBERG SEGALLA LLP  
701 Green Valley Road, Suite 310  
Greensboro, NC 27408  
(336) 419-4900  
Attorneys for Appellant

**

## **I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting partial summary judgment in favor of Covil Corporation where Covil Corporation's motion for summary judgment was not properly supported through sworn affidavits, pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file?
2. Whether the trial court erred in granting partial summary judgment in favor of Covil Corporation when Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company had no opportunity, let alone a full and fair opportunity, to engage in discovery prior to the entry of partial summary against it?
3. Whether the trial court erred when it found that coverage was afforded to Covil Corporation under the policies of insurance issued by Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company for the Rollins Lawsuit even though Covil Corporation violated the conditions contained in the policies by: (1) failing to provide written notice of the Rollins Lawsuit to Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company as soon as practicable after it was served with the Lawsuit, and (2) failing to immediately forward copies of the Summons and Complaint to Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company?
4. Whether the trial court erred when it found that coverage was afforded to Covil Corporation under the policies of insurance issued by Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company for the Rollins Lawsuit even though Covil Corporation violated the conditions contained in the policies because Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company was not substantially prejudiced by Covil Corporation's untimely notice?

5. Whether the trial court erred by finding that coverage for Covil Corporation under the policies of insurance issued by Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company for the Rollins Lawsuit was not barred through the operation of the products hazard exclusion?
6. Whether the trial court erred by finding that coverage for Covil Corporation under the policies of insurance issued by Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company for the Rollins Lawsuit was not barred through the operation of the completed operations hazard exclusion?

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On February 28, 2020, Peter D. Protopapas, appointed Receiver for Covil Corporation (“Covil”), filed this action against Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company (“Penn National”) alleging damages in an amount “not greater than \$74,999.99” resulting from a single claim asserted against Penn National for breach of contract. [Complaint, p.5, ¶18 (RI p. 22)] Specifically, Covil alleged that Penn National provided coverage under two policies of insurance for Covil’s liability in an underlying lawsuit, *David D. Rollins v. Covil Corporation, et al.*,” Civil Action No. 2019-CP-25-0118, in Hampton County, South Carolina (“Rollins Lawsuit”). [Complaint, p.3, ¶¶8-11 (RI p. 20)] Covil asserted that Penn National breached its policies when it failed to participate in a mediated settlement conference held in the Rollins Lawsuit and refused to contribute \$50,000 towards the settlement that was reached in the Rollins Lawsuit. [Complaint, p.4, ¶¶15-18 (RI pp. 21-22)]

On March 30, 2020, Penn National filed its Notice of Motion and Motion to Transfer Venue and Answer to Complaint. In its Answer, Penn National denied the material allegations contained in the Complaint, including the court’s jurisdiction over the matter and proper venue.

[Defendant's Answer, pp.3-5 (RI pp. 25-27)] Penn National admitted that it did, in fact, attend the mediation in the Rollins Lawsuit, but questioned whether coverage was provided under the policies of insurance issued by Penn National to Covil for the Rollins Lawsuit. [Defendant's Answer, pp.4-5 (RI pp. 26-27)] In addition, Penn National raised certain defenses in its Answer, including Covil's failure to comply with its duties under the policies, including the duty to provide timely notice to Penn National of the Rollins Lawsuit, and other policy provisions and exclusions. [Defendant's Answer, pp.5-6, First Defense, Third Defense, Fourth Defense (RI pp. 27-28)]

Without engaging in any discovery or even addressing Penn National's motion to transfer venue, and a mere twenty-three (23) days after Penn National filed its Answer, Covil moved for partial summary judgment. [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (RI pp. 34-43)] In its motion, Covil argued that the injuries alleged in the Rollins Lawsuit fell within the coverage period of the policies of insurance issued by Penn National, that Covil paid amounts in settlement of the Rollins Lawsuit for those injuries, and that therefore Penn National breached its policies when it failed to reimburse Covil for the amounts paid in settlement of the Rollins Lawsuit. [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, pp.7-8 (RI pp. 40-41)] Covil also addressed two exclusions contained in the policies issued by Penn National, specifically the products hazard exclusion and the completed operations exclusion. [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, pp.8-9 (RI pp. 41-42)] Covil did not address, or even mention, Penn National's defense, raised in its Answer, of late notice.

Of significance, in making its motion for summary judgment, Covil did not attach or submit any supporting affidavits. Instead, Covil merely attached "exhibits" consisting of: uncertified copies of what Covil alleged to be the policies of insurance issued by Penn National

[Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Exhs. A, B (RI pp. 44-55)];<sup>1</sup> the Amended Complaint filed in the Rollins Lawsuit [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Exh. D (RI pp. 59-109)]; an unsworn three-page excerpt from the deposition of Robert Ashworth (not taken in the present action or even in the Rollins Lawsuit but in a different asbestos personal injury lawsuit) [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Exh. E (RI pp. 113-116)]; an unsworn twelve-page excerpt from the deposition of Mr. Rollins (again, not taken in the present action or in the Rollins Lawsuit but in yet another asbestos personal injury lawsuit) [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Exh. F (RI pp. 117-120)]; an unsigned, partial Subcontract Agreement between Bowater Carolina Company and Covil [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Exh. G (RI pp. 121-125)]; unverified, unsigned, and unidentified handwritten notes [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Exh. H (RI pp. 126-127)]; an unverified and unauthenticated interoffice memo from Bowater Carolina Company to Covil [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Exh. I (RI pp. 128)]; and a copy of an article from the Spring 1971 edition of the Nebraska Law Review [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Exh. J (RI pp. 129-161)]. Of note, these documents were not produced in any discovery in the present case (as no discovery had yet been undertaken).

Penn National filed its Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on May 8, 2020. [Penn National's Memo in Opposition (RI p. 162)] In its Opposition, Penn National moved to stay the present action pending the disposition of identical coverage issues pending in federal court. [Penn National's Memo in Opposition, pp. 10-12 (RI pp. 171-173)] Penn National also raised defenses of late notice and the application of the

---

<sup>1</sup> Penn National denies that what was attached to Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment constitutes complete copies of its policies. Penn National provided complete copies of its policies with its Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. See, [Penn National's Memo in Opposition, Exhs. 13-1, 13-2 (RI pp. 422-465, RII 466-514)]

products hazard exclusion and the completed operations hazard, which barred coverage in its entirety for the Rollins Lawsuit under the Penn National Policies. [Penn National's Memo in Opposition, pp.12-22 (RI pp. 173-183)] Finally, and not insignificantly, Penn National argued that granting summary judgment at this stage in the litigation, i.e. a mere twenty-three (23) days after Penn National had filed its Answer, was premature because Penn National did not have a full and fair opportunity to engage in, let alone complete, discovery. [Penn National's Memo in Opposition, pp.22-23 (RI pp. 183-184)]

Without the benefit of a hearing, on August 13, 2020, Retired Justice Jean H. Toal issued an Order Granting Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. In the Order, the trial court considered extrinsic evidence, not duly supported by any filed affidavits, and found that Penn National had coverage for the damages alleged in the Rollins Lawsuit and that the exclusions for products hazard and completed operations hazard did not apply. [Order dated 8/13/2020, pp.3-8 (RI pp. 4-9)] The trial court further found that because Penn National actually attended the mediation, its late notice defense was invalid. [Order dated 8/13/2020, p.9 (RI p. 10)] Ultimately, the trial court held "that there is no triable issue that Penn National was required to defend Covil against the *Rollins* action, and is required to indemnify Covil against the settlement of the *Rollins* action." [Order dated 8/13/2020, p.10 (RI p. 11)]

On August 24, 2020, Penn National moved pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, for reconsideration of the Order granting partial summary judgment in favor of Covil. [Penn National's Motion for Reconsideration (RII pp. 553-557)] On September 21, 2020, again without the benefit of a hearing, the trial court denied Penn National's Motion for Reconsideration in its entirety. [Order dated 9/21/2020 (RI pp. 13-17)] Penn National timely filed its Notice of Appeal on September 14, 2020. [Notice of Appeal (RII pp. 563-564)]

### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Covil, a South Carolina corporation formed in 1954, was in the business of selling, distributing, and installing insulation products, some of which allegedly contained asbestos. In 1991, Covil went out of business and its charter was thereafter administratively revoked.

[Complaint, p.3, ¶7 (RI p. 20)] On or about November 2, 2018, Retired Justice Toal appointed Mr. Protopapas as the Receiver for Covil, with the power and authority to administer all of Covil's assets. [Covil's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Exh. C (RI p. 56-58)]

Covil has been sued in numerous lawsuits brought by individuals allegedly injured through their exposure to asbestos, or their estates, claiming that such injuries were caused by Covil's alleged distribution and/or installation of asbestos-containing products. See, e.g., Covil Corp. v. Zurich Am. Ins. Co., 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33140, \*4-5 (D.S.C. 2020); Zurich Am. Ins. Co. v. Covil Corp., 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 138062, \*15 (M.D.N.C.). One of the cases filed against Covil is the Rollins Lawsuit.

#### 1. *Rollins Lawsuit*

On April 5, 2019, David D. Rollins filed a lawsuit in Hampton County, against fifty-three (53) defendants, alleging that he was exposed to asbestos fibers both during his employment and while he lived with his parents who brought asbestos fibers home on their clothes from their respective places of employment. [Penn National's Memo in Opposition, Exh. 4, p.29, ¶73 (RI p. 268)] Mr. Rollins was diagnosed with malignant Meosthelioma on or about January 17, 2019. [*Id.* at ¶72 (RI p. 268)] In the Amended Complaint filed in the Rollins Lawsuit on April 10, 2019, Mr. Rollins alleged that his exposure to asbestos occurred continuously between 1973 and 2001. Specifically, Mr. Rollins alleged that he was exposed to

“take-home” asbestos fibers from dust carried home by Mr. Rollins’ father, mother, and stepfather from their respective job sites. This “take-home” exposure allegedly occurred between 1973 and 1991. Mr. Rollins also worked at locations where asbestos fibers were present from 1988 until 2001. [*Id.* at ¶¶74-78 (RI pp. 268-270)]

In the Rollins Lawsuit, Mr. Rollins alleged liability against the defendants, which were separated into two categories and identified as being either a “Product Defendant” or a “Premises Defendant.” These categories were specifically defined in the Amended Complaint:

3. Plaintiff’s claims against the Product Defendants, as defined herein, arise out of Defendants’ purposeful efforts to serve directly or indirectly the market for their asbestos and/or asbestos-containing products in this State, either through direct sales or through utilizing an established distribution channel with the expectation that their products would be purchased and/or used within South Carolina.
4. Plaintiff’s claims against the Premises Defendants, as defined herein, arise out of Defendants’ ownership and/or control of real property located in South Carolina and the purchase and use of asbestos-containing products on their premises located in South Carolina.

[Penn National’s Memo in Opposition, Exh. 5, p.5 (RI p. 303)] In the Rollins Lawsuit, Covil was designated as a Product Defendant:

25. Defendant, COVIL CORPORATION was and is a South Carolina corporation with its principle place of business in South Carolina. At all times material hereto, COVIL CORPORATION mined, manufactured, processed, imported, converted, compounded, supplied, installed, replaced, repaired, used, and/or retailed substantial amounts of asbestos and/or asbestos-containing products, materials, or equipment, including, but not limited to, the installation and removal of asbestos-containing thermal insulation. COVIL CORPORATION is sued as a ***Product Defendant***. Plaintiff’s claims against COVIL CORPORATION arise out of this Defendant’s business activities in the State of South Carolina.

[*Id.* p.12 (RI p. 310)] (emphasis added).

Mr. Rollins alleged six claims in the Rollins Lawsuit: (1) products liability: negligence; (2) products liability: strict liability pursuant to S.C. Code. Ann. §15-73-10, *et seq.*; (3) vicarious liability based on respondeat superior; (4) premises liability: negligence as to premises owner/contractor; (5) products liability: breach of implied warranties pursuant to S.C. Code. Ann. §36-2-314; and (6) fraudulent misrepresentation. [*Id.* ¶¶85-157 (RI pp. 330-348)]

## **2. *Penn National Policies***

Penn National issued a Special Multi-Peril Policy to Named Insured, Covil Corporation, Inc., Policy No. 515 50 28 53-7, for the policy period of March 31, 1986 through March 31, 1987 (“1986-87 Policy”). The 1986-87 Policy provided both commercial property coverage and general liability coverage. The liability limits on the 1986-87 Policy was \$1 million per occurrence and in the aggregate. [Penn National’s Memo in Opposition, Exh. 13, p.1 (RI p. 423)] This policy was renewed, Policy No. 515 50 28 53-8, for the next policy period of March 31, 1987 through March 31, 1988 (“1987-88 Policy”), with identical coverages, policy forms and liability limits. [Penn National’s Memo in Opposition, Exh. 13, pp.44-91 (RII pp. 467-514)] (The 1986-87 Policy and the 1987-88 Policy will collectively be referred to as the “Penn National Policies.”)

## **3. *Late Notice of the Rollins Lawsuit***

The Amended Complaint in the Rollins Lawsuit was served on Covil on April 25, 2019. [Penn National’s Memo in Opposition, Exh. 5, p.1 (RI p. 292)] Mr. Protopapas entered a special appearance in the Rollins Lawsuit as Receiver for Covil on May 13, 2019, [Penn National’s Memo in Opposition, Exh. 6 (RI p. 351)] and Covil filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint on May 28, 2019 [Penn National’s Memo in Opposition, Exh. 7 (RI p. 353)], through defense

counsel retained by other insurers to whom Covil had tendered the Rollins Lawsuit at that time. Covil did not provide notice to Penn National of the Rollins Lawsuit when it was served on Covil.

On June 6, 2019, Mr. Rollins was deposed in the Rollins Lawsuit [Penn National's Memo in Opposition, Exh. 8, pp.5-15 (RI pp. 396-406)], and the parties engaged in other fact and expert discovery as required by the Master Asbestos Discovery/Scheduling Order, adopted and filed in the Rollins Lawsuit on May 8, 2020. [Penn National's Memo in Opposition, Exh. 9 (RI pp. 408)] It was not until January 27, 2020, after the pleadings had been closed and discovery (both fact and also expert) had long since been completed, that Covil sent its first notice of the Rollins Lawsuit to Penn National. In fact, the "notice" provided by Covil at that time consisted of an email sent by the Receiver's office to various counsel for different insurers for Covil. In that email dated January 27, 2020, Mr. Protopapas stated:

As you know, Peter D. Protopapas, as Receiver for Covil Corporation, was served via process on **April 25, 2019** with the attached lawsuit captioned **ROLLINS vs. Air & Liquid, et al (Case Number 2019-CP-25-00118)**.

This matter is pending in **HAMPTON** County, South Carolina **AND IS SET FOR TRIAL on March 23, 2020** (please see attached order for date certain).

Again, the Receiver respectfully requests that the insurers provide and/or continue to provide a defense to Covil Corporation in these asbestos lawsuits. To the extent that a defense will not be provided, please advise so that I can take the actions necessary to protect Covil Corporation.

[Penn National's Memo in Opposition, Exh. 5, p.2 (RI p. 292)] (emphasis in original).

Contrary to the statement in the email sent by Mr. Protopapas on January 27, 2020, Covil had not previously provided notice to Penn National of the Rollins Lawsuit. The email to counsel for Penn National was the first notice that Penn National had received with regard to

the Rollins Lawsuit. However, based upon the language in the email sent by Mr. Protopapas, Covil had previously provided notice to its other insurers and some or all of these other insurers were defending Covil in the Rollins Lawsuit.

Cognizant that Covil had not timely notified Penn National of the Rollins Lawsuit, counsel for the Receiver sent a letter to Penn National and its counsel on February 3, 2020.

In that letter, Covil officially tendered the Rollins Lawsuit to Penn National:

Covil hereby tenders this suit to Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company (“Penn National”) for defense and indemnity, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the insurance policies issued to and/or covering Covil.

[Penn National’s Memo in Opposition, Exh. 10 (RI p. 413)] Although Covil enclosed a copy of the Amended Complaint filed in the Rollins Lawsuit with its letter dated February 3, 2020, Covil did not enclose any additional pleadings filed or discovery exchanged in the Rollins Lawsuit, and did not provide any information regarding the status of the Rollins Lawsuit or the identity of Covil’s defense counsel in that Lawsuit.

On February 10, 2020, Mr. Protopapas wrote to counsel for Penn National to notify Penn National for the first time that a mediation had been scheduled in the Rollins Lawsuit for February 25, 2020. Covil provided this notice of the mediation just twelve (12) business days before the date of the mediation.

On February 14, 2020, Penn National sent a letter to Mr. Protopapas, advising that it had contacted defense counsel for Covil in the Rollins Lawsuit (who had been retained by another insurer) and had requested copies of discovery for review and evaluation. However, given that Penn National was unable to evaluate coverage due to the limited information provided to Penn National at that time, Penn National also requested that Covil execute a Non-Waiver Agreement in order to allow Penn National to investigate the matter without either party waiving

any rights under the Penn National Policies. [Penn National’s Memo in Opposition, Exh. 12 (RI pp. 418-421)]

Given the late notice of the mediation and lack of sufficient information and documentation provided by Covil to Penn National prior to the mediation, Penn National was unable to evaluate its potential coverage obligation or the liability and damages exposure for Covil prior to the mediation. As such, although a representative of Penn National attended the mediation, Penn National was not in a position to contribute to any settlement. Covil alleges in the present action that Penn National declined to contribute \$50,000 to the settlement, which Covil alleges resulted in “other Covil assets” being expended to resolve the action. [Complaint, ¶¶12–13 (RI p. 21)]

#### **IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

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