THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Jean Hofer Toal, Chief Justice (Ret.)

Case No. 2020-CP-40-01226

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001239

---

Covil Corporation, by and through its duly appointed Receiver, Peter D. Protopapas,

Respondent,

v.

Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company,

Appellant.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

SMITH ROBINSON HOLLER DuBOSE  
AND MORGAN, LLC  
G. Murrell Smith, Jr., SC Bar No. 66263  
Jonathan M. Robinson, SC Bar No. 68285  
Shanon N. Peake, SC Bar No. 102723  
2530 Devine Street,  
Columbia, SC 29205  
murrell@smithrobinsonlaw.com

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

## **V. ARGUMENT**

### **A. The Receiver’s Motion Was Neither Premature Nor Un-Supported By The Evidence, and These Issues Are Not Preserved for Review**

Initially, the Receiver notes Penn National’s arguments that it needed additional discovery, the Receiver’s Motion was premature, and the Receiver’s motion was not properly supported are not preserved for appellate review.

As to Penn National’s arguments related to discovery and the timing of the Receiver’s motion, Penn National is precluded from arguing this on appeal because it did not file a notice of appeal from the circuit court’s September 21, 2020 Order denying its motion for reconsideration (“Order Denying Reconsideration”). While Penn National raised this argument to the circuit court in its memorandum in opposition to the Receiver’s motion for partial summary judgment, the circuit court did not rule the issue in the Order from which appeal was actually taken. The Order on appeal found Penn National did not meet its burden to show a policy exclusion applied and did not meet its burden in proving the validity of its late notice defense. (R. pp. 4–11). Penn National re-raised its argument that summary judgment was premature because it needed additional discovery in its motion to reconsider. (R. p. 557). In denying reconsideration, the circuit court found summary judgment was not premature because Penn National did not need additional discovery and did not submit a Rule 56(f), SCRPC, affidavit to support its argument. (R. p. 16). As the issue was not ruled upon by the circuit court until the unappealed Order Denying Reconsideration, Penn National’s arguments regarding the timing of summary judgment and its need for additional discovery are not properly before this Court. *See Elam v. South Carolina Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (“A party *must* file [a Rule 59(e), SCRPC] motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.”); *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”).

Rule 203 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules firmly requires would-be appellants to serve a notice of appeal “within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment” and attach a copy of the order to be challenged on appeal. Timely service of the notice is a jurisdictional requirement, and, without a properly-served notice of appeal, this

Court does not have jurisdiction over the unappealed order. *See Burnett v. S.C. State Highway Dep't*, 252 S.C. 568, 571, 167 S.E.2d 571, 572 (1969); *Sadisco of Greenville, Inc. v. Greenville Cty. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 340 S.C. 57, 59, 530 S.E.2d 383, 384 (2000). In the instant case, the circuit court issued the Order on August 13, 2020. On August 24, 2020, Penn National filed a Motion to Reconsider the Order. On September 14, 2020, Penn National timely appealed the Order while its Motion to Reconsider was still pending before the circuit court.<sup>5</sup> The circuit court issued the Order Denying Reconsideration on September 21, 2020. Importantly, Penn National never appealed the subsequent Order Denying Reconsideration. Therefore, its arguments about the timing of the Receiver's motion and its purported need for further discovery are not properly before this Court. *See In re GNC Corp.*, 789 F.3d 505, 512 (4th Cir. 2015) (granting a motion to dismiss an appeal where a party timely filed a notice of appeal of an order but failed to file either "an amended notice of appeal or a new notice of appeal within 30 days of the entry of" the order denying their Rule 60 motion); *see also Prof'l Bankers Corp. v. Floyd*, 285 S.C. 607, 613, 331 S.E.2d 362, 365 (Ct. App. 1985) ("An appealable order from which no appeal is taken becomes the law of the case . . .").

Moreover, Penn National's brand-new argument that the Receiver's motion for summary judgment was not properly supported is clearly not preserved for review as Penn National did not raise the arguments to the circuit court at all. In its initial brief, Penn National argues for the first time that the circuit court erred in relying on the documents attached to the Receiver's Motion to

---

<sup>5</sup> While a timely Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion stays the time limit for filing a notice of appeal from an order, it does not follow that once a party chooses to appeal the original order that their notice of appeal automatically subsumes any future order issued by the circuit court. *See Elam*, 361 S.C. at 15, 602 S.E.2d at 775 ("A timely post-trial motion, including a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, stays the time for an appeal for all parties until receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion.").

grant summary judgment. (App. Br., pp. 12–14). Throughout its initial brief, Penn National refers to the evidence submitted by the Receiver as unverified, unsubstantiated, and unsworn. (App. Br., pp. 3–4, 18, 33–34, 39). However, in the circuit court, Penn National did not object to these documents, raise any argument that the court should not consider them, or raise any argument that the Receiver’s motion was not sufficiently supported. *See State v. Stone*, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 489 (2007) (“If a pitch was never thrown at trial, we cannot review whether the trial court made the proper call.”). Accordingly, this argument is also not preserved for appellate review.<sup>6</sup> *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”).

Penn National’s treatise on the “drastic” nature of summary judgment and its apparent need to conduct fulsome discovery before its *affirmative defenses* on policy exclusions and a condition to coverage lacks merits and can be summarily rejected. Insurance coverage litigation is based on the evidence developed in the underlying liability action from which a coverage determination is sought. *See, e.g., Ex parte: Builders Mut. Ins. Co.*, 431 S.C. 93, 109, 847 S.E.2d 87, 95 (2020)

---

<sup>6</sup> In its Statement of the Case, Penn National suggests the circuit court erred in deciding the Receiver’s motion for summary judgment prior to “addressing Penn National’s motion to transfer venue” and in ruling on the Receiver’s motion for summary judgment and Penn National’s motion to reconsider “[w]ithout the benefit of a hearing.” (App. Br., pp. 3, 5). However, neither of these arguments are preserved for review because they were not raised to and ruled on by the circuit court and are not contained in the statement of issues on appeal. *See* Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR (“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.”); *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the [circuit] court to be preserved for appellate review.”). Further, as noted in the Order, these motions were fully briefed and hearings were not necessary in light of the ongoing Coronavirus emergency and guidance from the South Carolina Supreme Court. (R. p. 3).

(explaining the primary source of evidence in a coverage dispute is the record from the underlying proceeding).

The ability of Penn National and the Receiver to conduct discovery against each other in the Coverage Action yielding “answers to interrogatories” and “admissions on file” could not and would not change the nature of the testimonial and documentary evidence adduced in the *Rollins* action and upon which the Receiver based his motion for partial summary judgment. That evidence existed before the Receiver filed the Coverage Action. It is the very evidence upon which the Receiver settled *Rollins*, and upon which the Receiver demanded that Penn National fund the *Rollins* settlement. The nature and manner of Rollins’ injurious exposure to asbestos attributed to Covil is detailed in the deposition testimony adduced in the *Rollins* action. The nature of Covil’s work at Bowater is described in documents produced in the underlying litigation.

Consequently, Penn National’s stated need to “engage in discovery” in the Coverage Action “to determine the applicability of the products hazard exclusion and completed operations hazard exclusion in its Policies,” (App Br., p. 17), is an attempted delay tactic. All of that evidence was adduced in the *Rollins* Action and has been available to Penn National.

Penn National’s apparent need to conduct discovery in the Coverage Action to support its “late notice” defense, (App. Br., p. 16), is also of no moment. Penn National attended the mediation that produced the settlement in *Rollins*. It knows that it did not fund the settlement. It knows why it chose not to fund the settlement. It does not need to obtain discovery from the Receiver to find this out. Further, Penn National submitted evidence to the circuit court in opposition to the Receiver’s motion and in support of its “late notice” defense, such a January 2020 email sent on behalf of the Receiver to Penn National, filings in the *Rollins* Action, and correspondence between the Receiver and Penn National about *Rollins* and the *Rollins* mediation. The Receiver did not

dispute that notice occurred in January 2020, and Penn National already possessed all of the evidence it needed to make its “late notice” argument prior to the circuit court’s adjudication of the Receiver’s motion for partial summary judgment. This argument just fails.

In short, all of the documents relevant to the Receiver’s motion were *historical* in nature, such as the insurance policies, the Bowater contract, and a list of labor costs showing when Covil performed much of its work at the site. This evidence was attached as exhibits to the Receiver’s motion. Additionally, the Receiver has no personal knowledge of Covil’s work at Bowater thirty-four years ago; thus, he could not possibly supply Penn National with any other pertinent facts. Penn National received copies of all of the discovery materials in *Rollins*. All of the *Ashworth*<sup>7</sup> materials were available to it, as well. Penn National could have relied on these materials in support of its opposition to the Receiver’s motion. In fact, Penn National did just that by submitting 14 exhibits.

Moreover, the Receiver’s motion for partial summary judgment solely concerned matters—policy exclusions and the Receiver’s alleged failure to provide timely notice of the *Rollins* Action—upon which Penn National has the burden of proof. Discovery from the Receiver in the Coverage Action is not relevant to those issues. The evidence necessary for Chief Justice Toal to rule on whether Penn National could meet its burden of proof as a matter of law on affirmative defenses to its liability to pay the *Rollins* settlement arose solely in the *Rollins* action.

Although Penn National repeatedly argues that the Receiver’s motion was premature because the Receiver filed it “a mere twenty-three (23) days after Penn National” filed its answer, this does not make the Receiver’s motion improper. (App. Br., p. 15). Rule 56(a), SCRC, P.

---

<sup>7</sup> Ashworth brought a suit in the Delaware Superior Court for his asbestos-related cancer. See *Robert Ashworth and Nell Ashworth v. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp. et al.*, C/A No. N17C-04-003 ADB (Del. Sup. Ct.).

indicates a party may “at any time after the expiration of 30 days from the commencement of the action . . . move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor upon all or any part” of the case. The Receiver commenced this action on February 28, 2020, and moved for partial summary judgment over 50 days later, on April 22, 2020. (R. pp. 18–22, 34–161). The circuit court did not rule on the Receiver’s motion until August 13, 2020, almost four months after it was filed. At no point in its arguments to the circuit court did Penn National cite to any discovery it attempted to undertake within the four months that the Receiver’s motion was pending. *See Middleborough Horiz. Prop. Regime Council of Co-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 479–80, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App. 1995) (affirming summary judgment where appellants “advance[d] no good reason why four months was insufficient time under the facts of this case to develop documentation in opposition to the motion for summary judgment”). Instead, Penn National relied on conclusory and self-serving arguments that it needed to do more discovery without specifying what evidence it was likely to discover, needed to discover, or currently sought through outstanding discovery requests. *See Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 544 (1991) (explaining the nonmoving party must demonstrate that further discovery will likely uncover additional relevant evidence “and that they are not merely engaged in a ‘fishing expedition’” (quoting *Bixler v. J.C. Penney Co.*, 376 N.W.2d 209 (Minn. 1985))). To this day, Penn National has failed to suggest its bald, conclusory requests for further discovery would amount to anything other than a fishing expedition and an unnecessary delay.

As Chief Justice Toal noted in the unappealed Order Denying Reconsideration, Penn National did not submit a Rule 56(f), SCRPC affidavit outlining why it needed additional time for discovery. *See Doe ex rel. Doe v. Batson*, 345 S.C. 316, 321, 548 S.E.2d 854, 857 (2001) (“Rule 56(f) requires the party opposing summary judgment to at least present affidavits explaining why

he needs more time for discovery.”); Rule 56(f), SCRCF (“Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such order as is just.”). Penn National argues “strict compliance” with the Rule 56(f) affidavit is “not mandated where the need for further discovery is otherwise made known to the trial court.” (App. Br., pp. 17–18). Although a Rule 56(f) affidavit may not be a hardened requirement, it was definitely within the circuit court’s discretion to find one necessary under the facts of this case. To be sure—and contrary to Penn National’s conclusory assertion—the need for further *relevant* discovery was never made known to the circuit court.

Accordingly, Chief Justice Toal did not abuse her discretion in finding additional discovery was not necessary prior to a determination of the Receiver’s motion for summary judgment.

**B. Chief Justice Toal Correctly Held That Penn National Could Not Sustain Its Burden Of Proof On Policy Exclusions**

Penn National waits until page 34 of its initial brief to actually analyze the legal issues arising from the two policy exclusions to which it pointed in refusing to fund the *Rollins* settlement. Those issues are quite simple:

- Was Rollins’ mesothelioma attributed to Covil caused by products Covil placed into the stream of commerce during the period of the Relevant Policy?
- Was Rollins’ mesothelioma attributed to Covil caused by Covil’s completed work during the period of the Relevant Policy?

Chief Justice Toal concluded correctly that the answer to both questions is “no,” such that Penn National could not sustain its burden of proof to establish the applicability of any policy exclusion.

Rollins established in his lawsuit that he suffers from mesothelioma. He established further that “take home” asbestos exposures via Ashworth substantially contributed to his asbestos-related disease. Those “take home” exposures occurred during the period of the Relevant Policy because Rollins incurred “take home” exposure via Ashworth between 1980 and 1991. Rollins described a family home and family vehicles filled with asbestos dust during at least the entirety of the period of the Relevant Policy.

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